

BioTrade2020plus

Supporting a Sustainable European Bioenergy Trade Strategy

> Intelligent Energy Europe IEE/13/577/SI2.675534

Deliverable WP 3

Progress report on WP 3 case studies Colombia

Publicity level: Partners/EASME Date: June 2016



Co-funded by the Intelligent Energy Europe Programme of the European Union

The BioTrade2020plus Project

Objectives

The main aim of BioTrade2020plus is to provide guidelines for the development of a **European Bioenergy Trade Strategy for 2020 and beyond** ensuring that imported biomass feedstock is sustainably sourced and used in an efficient way, while avoiding distortion of other (non-energy) markets. This will be accomplished by analyzing the potentials (technical, economical and sustainable) and assessing key sustainability risks of current and future lignocellulosic biomass and bioenergy carriers. Focus will be placed on wood chips, pellets, torrefied biomass and pyrolysis oil from current and potential future major sourcing regions of the world (Canada, US, Russia, Ukraine, Latin America, Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa).

BioTrade2020plus will thus provide support to the use of stable, sustainable, competitively priced and resource-efficient flows of imported biomass feedstock to the EU - a necessary pre-requisite for the development of the bio-based economy in Europe.

In order to achieve this objective close cooperation will be ensured with current international initiatives such as IEA Bioenergy Task 40 on "Sustainable International Bioenergy Trade - Securing Supply and Demand" and European projects such as Biomass Policies, S2BIOM, Biomass Trade Centers, DIA-CORE, and PELLCERT.

Activities

The following main activities are implemented in the framework of the BioTrade2020plus project:

- Assessment of **sustainable potentials of lignocellulosic biomass** in the main sourcing regions outside the EU
- Definition and application of sustainability criteria and indicators
- Analysis of the **main economic and market issues of biomass/bioenergy imports** to the EU from the target regions
- Development of a dedicated and **user friendly web-based GIS-tool** on lignocellulosic biomass resources from target regions
- Information to European industries to identify, quantify and mobilize sustainable lignocellulosic biomass resources from export regions
- **Policy advice on long-term strategies** to include sustainable biomass imports in European bioenergy markets
- Involvement of stakeholders through consultations and dedicated workshops

More information is available at the BioTrade2020plus website: www.biotrade2020plus.eu

About this document

This report is a progress update of one of the six case studies to be developed under WP3 of the BioTrade2020+ project

Start date of project:	01-03-2014
Duration:	30 months
Due date of deliverable:	February 2015 (draft report)
Actual submission date:	June 2016 (Final report)

Work package	WP3
Task	3.1
Lead contractor for this deliverable	Utrecht University; Imperial College London
Authors	Rocio Diaz-Chavez, Wolter Elbersen, Berien Elbersen Contributions by Juan Martin Maya Echeverry, Luisa Fernanda Arango Londoño,
Collaborations	Imperial College, DLO

Dissemination Level		
PU	Public	
PP	Restricted to other programme participants (including the Commission Services)	
RE	Restricted to a group specified by the consortium (including the Commission Services):	
CO	Confidential, only for members of the consortium (including the Commission Services)	Х

Version	Date	Reason for modification	Status
0.1	20/11/2015	Full version for comments in the consortium	On-going
0.2	27/06/2016	Final version	Finished

This project is co-funded by the European Union within the INTELLIGENT ENERGY - EUROPA Programme. Grant Agreement n °IEE/13/577/SI2.675534. The sole responsibility of this publication lies with the author. The European Union is not responsible for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.

List of Abbreviations and units

CMS	Carbon molecular sieve
СРО	Crude palm oil
CSR	Corporate social responsibility
EFB	Empty fruit bunches
EU	European Union
FFB	Fresh fruit bunches
На	Hectare
MDF	Medium density fiberboard
PKS	Palm kernel shell
PO	Palm oil
POME	Palm oil mill effluent
POR	Palm oil residues
RPR	Residue to product ratio
Tonne	Metric ton equivalent to 1000 kg

Table of Contents

The BioTrade2020plus Project	2
List of Abbreviations and units	4
List of Figures	6
List of Tables	7
1. Introduction	8
1.1 General Introduction	8
1.2 General BioTrade2020plus methodological approach	8
2. Case study: Colombia	.11
2.1 Overview of the country	11
2.2 Bioenergy and Biomass	13
2.3 Biomass potentials of oil palm and sugar cane	18
3. Oil Palm	.19
3.1 Technical potential	21
3.2 Determining the sustainable potential of oil palm residues	23
3.3 Availability of palm oil residues form the Northern and the Central regions	24
Central palm oil zone	27
3.4 Palm residue pellet production cost assessment	28
3.5 Cost supply curves for Palm oil residue pellets	29
4. SUGAR CANE	.31
4.1 Sugar cane biomass potential	31
5. GHG balance of palm oil residue and sugar cane residue pellet delivery to Rotterdam	.39
6. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS	.40
7. REFERENCES	.42

List of Figures

Figure 1. Methodology for selected countries and regions	9
Figure 2. Map of the 32 departments in Colombia. (Source: Wikipedia)1	11
Figure 3. Land use in Colombia (Source: Colombia Environmental Ministry, 2014) 1	12
Figure 4. Land use area of Colombia. Source: FAOstat, 20151	12
Figure 5. Energy sources in Colombia, 2012 (Source: BNEF)1	٤3
Figure 6. Total installed capacity: 15.645 MWSource: (Ministerio de Minas y Energia, 2015)	٤4
Figure 7. Municipalities with agricultural residues production per year (MARD, 2014)1	16
Figure 8. Municipalities' annual production of residues of sugar cane (MARD, 2014) 1	٢7
Figure 9 Municipalities' annual production of residues of oil palm (MARD, 2014) 1	٢7
Figure 10. Planted area. Source: Statistical Yearbook: The Oil Palm Agroindustry in Colombia and the	ć
World 2010-2014.2015	٤9
Figure 11. Oil palm production by region 2	20
Figure 12. Crops of palm of oil in Colombia 2014 by FEDEPALMA (2011) 2	20
Figure 13. Production areas and locations of palm oil mills in Colombia (FEDEPALMA, 2015)	21
Figure 14. Energy generation from oil palm. Source: FEDEPALMA.2015	21
Figure 15. Geographic distribution of oil palm plantations and mills in the Northern and Central palm	n
oil regions of Colombia. Source: Fedepalma,20152	25
Figure 16. Cost supply curve for palm oil mill residue delivery from Colombia to Rotterdam (FOB) 3	30
Figure 17. Cauca Valley sugar cane region indicating the sugar cane area and the sugar cane mills 3	31
Figure 18. Photos of mechanical harvesting of sugar cane and view of trash in the field after	
harvesting which is put on rows to permit regrowth of sprouts	32
Figure 19. Cost supply curves for sugar cane bagasse pellets	37
Figure 20a and b. Cost supply curves for current and 2020 and 2030 sugar cane residue pellet supply	/
under Business as usual and high export (HE) scenarios for the Colombian Cauca Valley	38
Figure 21. Sugar cane and palm oil sustainable export potential 4	11

List of Tables

Table 1. Summary of countries and feedstock potential Table 2. Main biomass feedstock available in Colombia (MARD, 2014)	9 13
Table 3. Energy resources in the National Energy Balance. Source: After Ministerio Minas y Energia. 2015	14
Table 4. Total production of rice, rice residues, coffee and coffee residues in 2013. *total straw	
available excluding the 2/3 left on land as soil fertilizer (European standard). (Gadde et al, 2009) 1 Table 5. Summary of selected agricultural residues produced in Colombia: Source: Escalante et al, ny	15
Table 6. The amount of different type of forestry products produced in Colombia, 2013 (MARD, 2014	1). 18
Table 7. Residual guadua-biomass potential1	18
Table 8. Land suitability for oil palm towards according to the BID land suitability assessment (2012) 2	22
Table 9. The current uses of palm oil mill residues in Colombia according to Ramírez et al (2015) for the year 2013.	24
Table 10. Total palm oil mill residue production and current availability according to Ramírez et al	•••
(2015) for the year 2013	25
Table 11. Land area suitable for palm oil for the different Colombian departments as assessed by BIC land suitability assessment) 26
Table 12. The current production area in the Northern and Central Palm oil zones of Colombia 2	26
Table 13. Total production area and mill residue production for export in the Northern palm oil zone	ڊ
of Colombia under a Business As Usual and a High Export scenario for 2020 and 2030 2	27
Table 14. Total production area and mill residue production for export in the Central palm oil zone o	۶f
Colombia under a Business As Usual and a High Export scenario for 2020 and 2030 2	28
Table 15. Cost assessment of EFB pellet production and delivery from the Northern palm oil growing	g
zone of Colombia to Rotterdam 2	28
Table 16. Cost supply information 2	<u>29</u>
Table 17. Sugar cane trash availability in the Cauca river valley	33
Table 18. Median quality characteristics of sugar cane trash and bagasse (from the ECN Phyllis	
database)	34
Table 19. Trash and bagasse composition data from Hasuani et al 2005	34
Table 20. Composition of green tops and dry leaves according to Franco et al (2013)	35
Table 21. Cost estimate of bagasse pellet production at approximately 100.000 ton pellets per year i	n
Colombia and transport by sea to Rotterdam, with trash replacing bagasse as a boiler fuel	36
Table 22. Summary of costs. 3	36
Table 23. Typical composition characteristics of palm oil Empty Fruit Bunches (EFB), mesocarp fibre,	
and shells	39
Table 24. For GHG impact calculation we use the following assumptions (provided by UU) 3	39
Table 25. GHG emissions per mode of transport used based on a short survey of data4	10
Table 26. GHG emissions for palm oil residue and sugar cane trash delivered to Rotterdam	••
TOD	łÛ
Table 27. Summary of characteristics of the pellets of residues to be considered a commodity from	
Colombia	ŧ٦

1. Introduction

1.1 General Introduction

The main objective of WP3 is to analyse the main economic and market issues concerning biomass/bioenergy imports to the EU from each of the six selected sourcing regions. Main elements are the analysis of current and future production and consumption volumes of biomass, identification of on-going and possible future trade routes and delivered costs, and potential risks of competition with other industries (both local and not) utilizing the investigated feedstocks per region.

In this work package, methodology to determine a net sustainable export potential of biomass and related cost and GHG supply curves will be applied and tested to six different country case studies: Brazil, Colombia, Kenya, Indonesia, Ukraine and the USA. For these six case studies, various potentials (technical, sustainable, market, etc.) will be determined.

The aim of this progress report is to highlight the status of the data collection and analysis until June 2015. In section 2, a summary of the methodology is presented. In section 3, the general case study description is presented (based on Deliverable 2.1). In section 4, a summary of the data collected and thus far and an overview of preliminary results are presented. Finally, in section 5, a short outlook on the further work and completion of the case study is given.

1.2 General BioTrade2020plus methodological approach

The methodology chosen for the selection of the regions followed the overall general methodology (See the general report on methodology). The methodology is divided in three main areas: the selection of the regions, the considerations for the theoretical potential in each region according to selected feedstock and the overall background information of the regions.

The focus regions include the US, Ukraine, Brazil, Colombia, Indonesia and Kenya. The feedstocks that will be considered are those which can produce different carriers such as wood chips, pellets, and torrefied biomass and pyrolysis oil.

The theoretical potential was calculated according to the availability of the selected feedstock and the residue production ratio identified in the literature as well as already calculated ratios and residues available.

The overall methodology is illustrated in **¡Error! No se encuentra el origen de la referencia.** according to the general methodology the selection of case studies and their assessment include the technological, and market potential, sustainable potential (see report on methodology Mai-Moulin et al, 2015).

The background information for the selected countries helped to identify the regions in each country that were more promising for the availability of the feedstock but also that included some of the technological facilities (including transportation and other logistics). The information provided from the Advisory Board (AB) also contributed to better select the particular regions. **¡Error! No se encuentra el origen de la referencia.**Figure 1 shows the methodology and information followed in this report.



Figure 1. Methodology for selected countries and regions

The following section presents the information collected for the selected countries and regions. This was based in literature review, partners' previous work in the selected countries and information provided by the Advisory board members.

The detailed information and technical, sustainability and market potentials along with scenarios, is included in the specific case studies as the information needed requires more detail and in some cases field work provided mainly by students working in the regions.

Additional socio-economic issues such as the willingness to harvest and the management of the forests, in terms of the use of the resources (e.g. recreational, conservation, market) are not discussed in this report but considered in the specific case studies.

The summary of the countries and feedstock potential presented in this report is shown in Table 1

Tuble 1. Summary of countries and recusioes potential

Country		Feedstock			
	Forest residues	Agricultural residues	Forest plantations	Biomass crops	New forest plantations
Brazil		V		V	V
		(C		

Colombia		V		v	
Kenya		V	V	v	
Indonesia		V			
United States	V		V		٧
Ukraine	V	V		v	



2. Case study: Colombia¹

2.1 Overview of the country

Population & Economy

Colombia had a population at 48.32 million in 2013 with a 1.3% annual growth (World Bank, 2013). Its GDP in 2013 was USD\$378.1 billion with a 4.1% 5-year average growth. The country is heavily dependent on its rich natural resources such as petroleum, coal, natural gas and a variety of precious metals such as gold and platinum (Paiyi, 2009). The country is divided in 32 departments (Figure 2) and one capital district, Bogotá. Bogotá is also the capital of the department of Cundinamarca (Fields, 1980).



Figure 2. Map of the 32 departments in Colombia. (Source: Wikipedia)

Land Use

Colombia is a large country with diversified characteristics in terms of climate, soil, geology, topography, vegetation cover and current land use which forms the basis for six regions. It has a total area of 114 million ha, of which approximately 50% is covered with forest (Castiblanco et al, 2013), as shown in Figure 3. Colombia is one of the most mega-diverse countries worldwide (Dias, 2003). With only 0.77% of the world's land area it contains 10% of its known species (IDEAM, 2004). About 90% of its non-agricultural land is protected area. The main agricultural activities of Colombia are coffee, dairy, sugar, bananas, flowers, cotton and cattle (NL Agency, 2013). However, Only 9.6% or 4.1 million ha of agricultural land is used for crops. Annual crops represented 33% of the cultivated area, whereas permanent crops and plantations accounts for 59%, the rest 8% was fallow land (Figure 4). The most extensive land use is cattle grazing which accounts for over 70% of the agricultural land, usually exhibiting low productivity levels (McAlpine et al., 2009).

¹ This section is based on Deliverable 2.1



Figure 3. Land use in Colombia (Source: Colombia Environmental Ministry, 2014)



Figure 4. Land use area of Colombia. Source: FAOstat, 2015.

Energy Sector

The power market is liberalized in Colombia. In 2012, Colombia's energy capacities installed, which is shown in Figure 5 consists of 64% large hydroelectricity, 17% natural gas, 7% oil, 7% coal and 5% renewables. In the remote areas, where conventional power generation is more expensive, many diesel 'mini-grids' are under operation, which aims at an increase in renewable energy usage to 20% by 2015, and 30% by 2020 locally. On the other hand, as a country rich in fossil fuel resources, Colombia also exports large amount of net power, including coal, oil and natural gas to countries worldwide.



Figure 5. Energy sources in Colombia, 2012 (Source: BNEF)

2.2 Bioenergy and Biomass

Colombia is among the region's leading biofuels producers, it produced 324.7 million litres of ethanol and 173,043 tonnes of biodiesel in 2009 using sugar cane and palm oil as their main feedstock (NL Agency, 2013). The biofuel industry generates an estimated 24,000 direct and 48,000 indirect jobs (NL Agency, 2013). Sugarcane and palm oil were commercially introduced to Colombia since the early 1900s. As one of the countries with highest yield in the world, each of the crops contributes to approximately 4% of the GDP in the agricultural sector. Furthermore, current land use for bio-ethanol production only accounts of 405,737 ha (FOA stats, 2014) whereas the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development (MARD) estimates the area with potential for sugarcane production at 3.9 million ha. Hence, solid biomass residues produced from the sugarcane and palm oil processing industry, along with other agricultural and forestry residues present a great potential for domestic energy generation and export. Table 2 shows the main agricultural and forestry residues produced in Colombia and their feedstock will be assessed further. Banana and plantain residues could also mentioned here but they are unlikely to be converted into an exportable biomass product at a reasonable price due to the fact that the residues are produced in the field and have a high moisture content. The field residues also contain large amounts of minerals (mainly K) which represent a considerable value in the plantation and will lead to low quality biomass.

Type of feedstock	Residues
Oil Palm	EFB, fibres, shells
Sugarcane	Bagasse, leaves
Rice	Husk, straws
Coffee	Husk, stalk
Livestock	Manure
Forestry	Residues, fuel wood,

Table 2. Main biomass feedstock available in Colombia (MARD, 2014)

The National Interconnected System (SIN) features a total installed capacity of 15,465.25 MW: 206 MW correspond to cogeneration from sugar cane bagasse (Ministerio de Minas y Energia, 2015). The types of sources that provide energy to the SIN are listed in the following Figure 6.





The National Energy Balance (BEN, for its acronym in Spanish) shows that natural gas is the main energy resource used by the Colombian industry. Pellets have been proposed as a future source of energy (Table 3)

Class	Renewable/non	Туре	2010	2011	2012
	renewable		%	%	%
Primary	100% non	Natural gas	39.87	33.68	39.64
	renewable	coal	12.17	28.66	16.37
		oil	5.49	0	0
	100%	bagasse	9.97	8.02	8.59
	renewable	wood	0.19	0.14	0.18
		residues	3.15	2.15	2.83
Secondary	100%	Charcoal	0.18	0.41	0.09
	renewable	BioDiesel	0	0	0
		Ethanol	0	0	0
		Ethanol	0	0	0
New energy fu	els				
Secondary	100%	Biomass	2.83	1.94	2.55
	Renewables	residues			
		Biogas	0	0	0
		Pellets	0	0	0

Apart from its palm oil and sugarcane production which generate together the majority of agricultural residues in terms of volumes, Colombia also has large plantation areas for bananas, rice and coffee, of which their residues can be used as biomass for energy generation.

Both rice and coffee residues have high cellulose and hemicellulose content and low moisture content. For every ton of coffee beans produced, approximately 1 ton of husks are generated during their drying process, whereas for wet and semi-wet processing this residue amounts to more than 2 ton (Saenger et. al., 2001) (Table 4).

For rice husk, every ton of paddy produced, generates about 750 kg of rice straw and 250kg husk (Gadde et al, 2009). Hence, in 2013, 2,434,853 tonnes of rice were produced with 1,217,426 tonnes of rice residues, whereas 464,640 tonnes of coffee beans were produced with an estimation of same amount of husk (Table 4).

Table 4. Total proc	luction of ric	e, rice residu	es, coffee	and coffee	residues	in 2013.	*total	straw	available
excluding the 2/3	eft on land a	s soil fertilize	r (Europeai	n standard)	. (Gadde	et al, 200	<u>)</u> 9).		

Rice	paddy	Rice	straw	Rice husk (tonnes)	Coffee	beans	Coffee h	nusk	(dry
(tonnes)		(tonnes)			(tonnes)		tonnes)		
2,434,853		1,826,139		608,713	464,640		464,640		
Total residu	le	1,217,426 t	onnes*		464,640 tor	nnes			

A summary of the residues from feedstocks with possibilities to be used for carriers to export to Europe is presented in Table 5. The Atlas produced in Colombia focuses on three different types of residues: agriculture, livestock and urban waste. Figure 7 shows the yearly production of agricultural residues by municipality.

Table 5. Summary of selected agricultural residues produced in Colombia: Source: Escalante et al, ny based on pre 2007 data.

Crop	Yield (ton/year)	Type of residue	Origin of residue (C/I)	Residue factor	Yield of residue	Energy potential
					(ton/year)	(TJ/year)
Oil palm	872,117	shell	I	0.22	189,074	2627.44
		fibre		0.63	546,381	6778.89
		empty fruit		1.06	924,618	6607.31
		bunch				
Sugar cane	2615,251	trash	С	3.26	8,525,718	41,707.22
		bagasse	I	2.68	7,008,873	76,871.65
Molasses	1514,878	bagasse	I	2.53	5,680,790	62,305.56
sugar cane		leaves	С	3.75	3,832,640	18,749.81
Coffee	942,327	pulp	I	2.13	2,008,192	7,206.79
		husk	I	0.21	193,460	3,338.57
		branches/stalk	С	3.02	2,849,596	38,561.52
Rice	2,463,689	Straw	С	2.35	492,738	20,699.41
		husk	I	0.2	1,878,194	7,136.53

C: crop harvest; I: Industrial



Figure 7. Municipalities with agricultural residues production per year (MARD, 2014)²

From Table 5, it becomes clear that the largest amount of residues, in terms of total biomass and per hectare volume, is produced in sugar cane, particularly the industrial sugar cane. In addition, industrial sugar cane also has the advantage of large spatial concentration in the Cauca valley (see Figure 8) which makes the logistical handling of the residues more efficient, also in relation to the location of harbours on the pacific coast.

 $^{^2}$ Maps can be accessed in the MARD (2009) Biomass Atlas

 $http://www1.upme.gov.co/sites/default/files/article/1768/files/Atlas\%20 de\%20 Biomasa\%20 Residual\%20 Colombia_.pdf$



Figure 8. Municipalities' annual production of residues of sugar cane (MARD, 2014).

The advantage of large spatial concentration also applies to oil palm residues (Figure 9) which have the largest production areas in the East and North of the country. Especially the eastern region has the potential for exports given the relative location near the Caribbean coastal port cities of Buenaventura and Cartagena. In the next further details are given.



Figure 9 Municipalities' annual production of residues of oil palm (MARD, 2014)

Overall it can be concluded that of all agricultural residues sugar cane and palm oil have the best possibilities for providing relatively unused residues at relatively high spatial concentrations situated in regions at relatively near distance to sea-ports.

Forestry

Although more than half of the country's land is covered by forests, most of them are protected areas with diversity of animal and plant species. Hence, Colombia presents limited potential for forestry biomass compared to other types of biomass. The amount of forest residues and products produced in 2013 is presented in Table 6. It shows that chips and particles and charcoal are the main products in the country.

Type of forestry products	Amount
Chips and particles (m3)	227,000
Wood Fuel(C)(m3)	2,236,000
Wood Fuel (NC)(m3)	6,068,000
Wood Residues (m3)	61,000
Wood Charcoal (m3)	315,805

Table 6. The amount of different type of forestry products produced in Colombia, 2013 (MARD, 2014).

Another alternative in Colombia is the residues of bamboo. Although bamboo is present in forms of forests, in Colombia it is managed in the Environmental Ministry rather than in the Agriculture and Forestry Ministry. A report by ECN (Daza et al, 2013) estimated the residual guadua-biomass potential in Colombia (Table 7). Although the potential is considerable, torrefaction would need to be implemented to produce pellets as carriers rather than chips. This could be a possibility after 2020.

Table 7	7.	Residual	guadua-biomass	potential
i a o i c i	•••	neonadan	Baaaaa bioinass	poteritiar

Natural stands	Hectares	kton/year	MWth
National	51,000	765	480
Coffee axis	28,000	420	260

Apart from the exploitation of *G. angustifolia* stands, an alternative scenario is the establishment of bamboo plantations as dedicated bioenergy crops. As for the coffee axis, when the total area with potential for high productivity is considered (125,000 ha).

2.3 Biomass potentials of oil palm and sugar cane

The main biofuel crops/products identified having potential for exports from Colombia are palm oil and sugarcane. The production of palm oil has been increasing in the last five years, demonstrating that the total sowed area is distributed in two stages: in production and in development.

3. Oil Palm

The milling process of the oil palm fruit in Colombia is one of the most important generators of biomass per cultivated hectare comparing to other oil or bioenergy type crops. In 2014, with its 62 extractor plants of palm oil and a productive area of 450.131 ha around the country, Colombia produced about 5 million tonnes of fresh fruit bunches (FFB) at a yield of around 19 tonnes fresh per ha, although the yields vary per region . It generates around 1mln tons of crude palm oil and around 250,000 tons of kernel. In addition, in the last couple of years there is a large expansion. Around 100,000 ha of additional land were cultivated for palm oil between 2008 and 2013. These additional palm oil areas came mostly at the expense of pastures, croplands and lands with natural vegetation (McAlpine et al., 2009). In 2010 the oil palm sector generated 2.6% of the agricultural GDP while its plantation area only occupied less than 1% of the total agricultural land area (FEDEPALMA, 2011) (Figure 10)..



Figure 10. Planted area. Source: Statistical Yearbook: The Oil Palm Agroindustry in Colombia and the World 2010-2014.2015.

Palm oil plantations are located in four zones in 2014, north, central, east and the south-west zones, shown in Figure 11 and Figure 12. The East zone has the most plantations, which contributes to 39 % of total plantation area, followed by 32 % in central 26 % north and 4 % in south- west zones. The plantation area in the south-western zone mainly coincides with areas which were previously forested (Seeboldt and Salinas, 2010). Especially the palm oil production in the south-western zone has been lagging behind as compared to other zones because of poor infrastructure, armed conflicts, and the existence of collective territories of Afro- Colombian communities (See Boldt and Salinas, 2010; BID-MME, 2012) and more recently disease problems.



Figure 11. Oil palm production by region.



Figure 12. Crops of palm of oil in Colombia 2014 by FEDEPALMA (2011).

Given the increase in palm oil plantation and production, availability of considerable amounts of byproducts of high energy value such as Fibre, Shell and EFB, (and POME) means that the oil palm industry has a possibility of generating electricity in isolated regions and/or exporting its biomass as energy sources (Garcia et al, 2010).

3.1 Technical potential

There are approximately 62 palm oil mills operating in Colombia. Most of the mills generate the combined heat and power from fibers, EFB and husks, making their operation self-sufficient in energy. Nevertheless, the use of residues of palm of oil can still be optimized in more energy efficient systems. Figure 13 shows the mills in Colombia.



Figure 13. Production areas and locations of palm oil mills in Colombia (FEDEPALMA, 2015)

The production of cluster of fresh fruit generates residues in mainly two places: on the plantation and the extractor plants. The residues produced in the plantation consist of trunks and leaves. As plantations are relatively new in Colombia trunks are not considered and leaves are used as compost.

Oil Palm residues: Empty Fruit bunch, Fibre, Shell and POME

The types of residue generated by the industry of palm of oil include the 'tusa' or empty bunches of fruit (EFB), the Fiber ('fibra'), the Husk ('cuesco') and POME ('effluentes) as a potential source of fuel or biogas. The residues mentioned previously are generated in the extractor plants of palm of oil. The process used for generation of electric power from biomass and biogas is presented in Figure 14.



Figure 14. Energy generation from oil palm. Source: FEDEPALMA.2015.

The effluent POME, which is generated in the process of extraction is a liquid biomass, is characterized for having high loads of organic matter, residues of the produced oil, pH acid and contents of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium. Anaerobic digestion of POME is being adopted to produce biogas (55-65 % of gas methane and carbon dioxide), which can be used as fuel. Solid residues EFB, shell and fiber have the potential to be converted to pellets and potentially be (partially) used for exports to EU.

Future developments in palm oil residues

In the future this status quo may change given land suitable for establishment of new plantations and former trends in oil palm plantation areas and yield developments. The land suitability for extension of oil palm plantations was assessed in a study by BID (2012) (see Figure 15). In this study a spatially explicit assessment was done of land availability for extension of oil palm plantations excluding the following categories of land:

- 1) protected areas and other areas of high biodiversity
- 2) low productive lands and land of high carbon stocks where conversion to palm oil would lead to high LUC and ILUC -GHG emissions and therefore not reaching a 40% GHG mitigation (as compared to fossil-diesel) if the palm oil would be used for biodiesel production
- 3) existing agricultural lands
- 4) land with large bio-physical limitations (marginal lands)
- 5) land that is inaccessible/remotely located away from road and other transport lines,

Based on the BID (2012) study it could be determined per department how much extra land in the suitable and moderately suitable category would be available for future development without adversely affecting biodiversity and the environment. According to these BID figures assumptions in this study were made about the future growth of palm oil production areas

Therefore area increase is only possible in regions where palm oil plantations already occur and where enough land for sustainable growth is available according to the BID study (2012) (see Table 8).

	Areas suitable	total planted area, 2013 (Estadistica,		
Region	Moderately suitability	Suitability	total	Colombia)
ANTIOQUIA	350,000	50,000	400,000	1,104
ATLANTICO			-	357
BOLIVAR	70,000	-	70,000	27,287
CAQUETA	350,000	380,000	730,000	785
CASANARE			-	43,524
CAUCA			-	624
CESAR	80,000	-	80,000	72,896
СНОСО			-	5,137
CORDOBA	350,000	-	350,000	311
CUNDINAMARCA			-	8,574
LA GUAJIRA			-	1,375
MAGDALENA	400,000	-	400,000	66,864
META	800,000	600,000	1,400,000	178,303
NARIÑO			-	32,057
NORTE DE SANTANDER			-	24,281

able 8. Land suitability	for oil palm	towards according to the E	BID land suitability a	assessment (2012).
--------------------------	--------------	----------------------------	------------------------	--------------------

	Areas suitable	for expansion (BI	total planted area, 2013 (Estadistica,	
Region	Moderately suitability	Suitability	total	Colombia)
SANTANDER	10,000		10,000	102,635
SUCRE	40,000	-	40,000	50
TOLIMA	10,000		10,000	
VICHADA			-	130

3.2 Determining the sustainable potential of oil palm residues

For the sustainable potential the following issues were taken into account:

- 1) maintenance of soil organic carbon (SOC) and fertility
- 2) no use of high biodiversity areas (covered by BID study)
- 3) no use of high carbon stock lands with high LUC and ILUC GHG emissions when converted to palm oil plantations

The first criterion is covered by excluding the field residues, the trunks and leaves, as these are completely returned to the soil. Maybe more important. We estimate that the cost of collection is for now too high to be of interest.

The avoidance of the use of biodiversity rich and high carbon areas is covered in the BID (2012) study that excluded these areas from the surface suitable for extension of palm oil plantations.

3.3 Availability of palm oil residues form the Northern and the Central regions.

In Colombia there are 4 palm oil growing regions. The south western region is small and currently in crisis due to disease problems. The eastern region is large and expanding but is also relatively isolated behind the Andes mountain range. This makes export to a harbour very expensive for a relatively low value product such as pellets or pyrolysis oil made from residues. The cost of transporting one ton of biomass pellets from the eastern region to a harbour would cost more than \$ 50 per ton.

This leaves the Central and Northern regions which may be able to export biomass residue products in the short to medium term.

We use the recent assessment by Ramírez et al (2015) as a basis for the biomass availability assessment. They assessed the production and current use of palm oil mill residues in 2013 in Colombia.

The lignocellulosic mill residues include the empty fruit bunch (EFB), the mesocarp fibre and the shell. On top of this palm oil mill effluent (POME) is produced which is increasingly used for anaerobic digestion followed by energy production. The fibre is used mostly for energy (stream and electricity) generation for the mill. Some is used for composting and a small portion is returned to the field without processing. The shell is used for energy generation (stream and electricity) and 21% is sold for different purposes including carbon black production. Some shell is also used as local road cover. A small portion is returned to the field (Table 9).

If shells are sold, the price paid (at the plant) is reported to be between \$USD 15 (30.000 Colombian Peso) and \$USD 26 (52.200 Colombian Peso) per ton (14% moisture) according to Ramírez et al (2015). Empty Fruit Bunch (EFB) has few uses except for composting.

Current uses:	For mill energy generation	Compost	Other	To the field
EFB	0.0%	24.8%	11.4%	63.8%
Fibre	73.9%	5.7%	3.5%	16.9%
Shell	71.7%	0.0%	24.6%	3.7%

Table 9. The current uses of palm oil mill residues in Colombia according to Ramírez et al (2015) for the year 2013.

The cost of returning EFB residues to the field is estimated at between 0.55 \$USD per ton (1.100 Colombian pesos) for 5 km and 29 \$USD per ton (58.000 Colombian pesos) for 60 km distance from mill to field. Considering that the DM content of EFB is between 30 and 50% this can be a considerable cost per ton of DM. In many cases the EFB is pressed to remove oil (2% extra) and to reduce weight and volume making transport less costly.

Due to high transport costs, residues are often distributed to fields close to the mill which may then receive too much residue, leading to over fertilization. In some areas the fly *Stomoxys calcitrans* uses EFB to breed leading to local pest problems for cattle and humans. Overall, the benefits of returning EFB to the field are less as the distance from mill to field increases.

In the analysis by Ramírez et al (2015) the biomass that is returned to the field is considered available for other purposes. This is due to the costs and due to the fact that returning biomass to the field can lead to hygiene or emission problems (Table 10).

5 millio	on tons FFB	Charact	eristics	Total produ	ction	Availat	ole for new uses	5
product	ion							
	% of FFB	DM	HHV	FW (ton)	DM (ton)	% of FFB	FW (ton)	DM (ton)
		%	(MJ/kg)					
EFB	20.22%	35%	17.9	1,011,000	353,850	15.21%	760,500	266,175
Fibre	13.65%	65%	19.2	682,500	443,625	2.78%	139,000	90,350
Shell	5.63%	86%	21.5	281,500	242,090	1.59%	79,500	68,370
Total:	39.50%			1,975,000	1,039,565		979,000	424,895

Table 10. Total palm oil mill residue production and current availability according to Ramírez et al (2015) for the year 2013.

Export potential

The average distance to harbour facilities in the Northern region is just over 100 km. The average distance to harbour facilities for the Central region is some 500 km, but there are options to lower transport cost if ship transport is used to Buenaventura harbour via the Magdalena river. Figure 15 shows the geographic distribution of palm oil plantations in the North and Central areas and the distance to the ports.





b) Northern palm oil region

Figure 15. Geographic distribution of oil palm plantations and mills in the Northern and Central palm oil regions of Colombia. Source: Fedepalma, 2015.

To estimate the residue production and export potential we must know the current production in these areas and the expansion in production for 2020 and 2030 and the expected yield increases and the expected local use of the biomass to assess the availability for export in 2020 and 2030.

Palm oil expansion rate.

As described above the historical expansion rate of palm oil has been 6.5% per year in Colombia, though the expansion rate appears to be decreasing. Still, more than 20% of the area is under development,

which takes only a few years to realize. The available land for expansion is also considerable in Colombia especially for the eastern zone which will not be considered for export here. The provinces in the Eastern and Northern zones are shown in Table 11. We see that here considerable expansion is possible.

	Areas suitable fo	total planted area, 2013 (Estadistica,		
Region	Moderately	Suitable	total	Colombia)
	suitable			
ANTIOQUIA	<mark>350,000</mark>	<mark>50,000</mark>	<mark>400,000</mark>	<mark>1,104</mark>
ATLANTICO			-	<mark>357</mark>
BOLIVAR	<mark>70,000</mark>	-	70,000	<mark>27,287</mark>
CAQUETA	350,000	380,000	730,000	785
CASANARE			-	43,524
CAUCA			-	624
<mark>CESAR</mark>	<mark>80,000</mark>	-	<mark>80,000</mark>	<mark>72,896</mark>
CHOCO			-	<mark>5,137</mark>
CORDOBA	<mark>350,000</mark>	-	<mark>350,000</mark>	<mark>311</mark>
CUNDINAMARCA			-	<mark>8,574</mark>
<mark>LA GUAJIRA</mark>			-	<mark>1,375</mark>
<mark>MAGDALENA</mark>	<mark>400,000</mark>	-	<mark>400,000</mark>	<mark>66,864</mark>
META	800,000	600,000	1,400,000	178,303
NARIÑO			-	32,057
NORTE DE SANTANDER			-	<mark>24,281</mark>
SANTANDER	10,000		10,000	102,635
<mark>SUCRE</mark>	<mark>40,000</mark>	-	<mark>40,000</mark>	<mark>50</mark>
TOLIMA	10,000		10,000	
VICHADA			-	130
Vellow = Northern regio	n · Blue – Centra	Iregion		

Table 11. Land area suitable for palm oil for the different Colombian departments as assessed by BID³ land suitability assessment.

As shown in Table 12, the total palm oil plantation area is 450.000 ha of which 97.000 ha is under development. The current productivity per hectare is 15 tons FFB per hectare given that 5 million ton FFB is produced per years (Ramírez and Garcia-Nunez, 2015).

Table 12. The current production area in the Northern and Central Palm oil zones of Colombia.

Hectares	Northern zone	Central zone
Planted	173.861	142.493
In production	138.457	112.732
Under development	35.404	29.761

Table 133 shows the total residue availability for the Northern palm oil zone. We assume that under BAU the area under development is under production and that area expansion slows to 2.5 % between 2020 and 2030. For the HE scenario area expansion is 5% per year, which is still less than it has been over the last decade.

The FFB production is assumed to be 15 ton FFB per hectare on average. Keep in mind that relatively young stand in expanding areas have lower average productivity which increases over time.

³ BID-MME, 2012. Evaluacion del ciclo de vida de la cadena de produccion de biocombustibles en Colombia. Resumen Ejecutivo. Available at: www.fedebiocombustibles.com (accessed 20.03.2012).

We assume an increase in productivity of 1% under BAU en 2% under the HE scenario for whereby maximum productivity is reached in 2030 for the HE scenario of 20.6 tons of FFB per hectare. Overall the yield will increase from 2 million tons FFB to 3.9 and 7.8 million tons of FFB per year under the two scenarios. For the residue production we assume that the production per ton of FFB stays the same expressed as % of FFB.

The availability of mill residues changes over time. Under BAU, more EFB will be used for compost production. Compost production will take off to improve soil quality, maintain soil moisture and nutrient recycling. Fibre and shell are less suited as a source for compost. EFB contains more nutrients and is less attractive as a feedstock for other purposes. Under the HE scenario EFB use for compost is maintained or increases slightly. EFB availability for export is between 10 and 15% (of FFB)

Elbersen et al (2013) showed that almost 100% of fibre and shell could be made available for other uses if energy efficiency is increased at the mill and if POME anaerobic digesters supply a large part of the mill energy needs. Fibre availability thereby increases from 2.78% now to 10% (of % FFB). For shells mill energy application can also be reduced considerably especially under the HE scenario.

Overall the availability of mill residues will increase from 176,489 ton DM now, as assessed by Ramírez and Garcia-Nunez (2015), to between 306,000 tons DM under the BAU scenario and 1.18 million tons under the HE scenario in 2030. Equivalent to between 5.8 and 22.9 PJ HHV per year (Table 13).

		0	•			
Northern zone		Current	BAU	HE	BAU	HE
Year:		2015	2020	2020	2030	2030
Area increase per year				5.0%	2.5%	5.0%
Area	ha	138,457	173,861	202,028	222,557	379,235
Yield increase per year	%		1.0%	2.0%	1.0%	2.0%
Yield	ton FFB/ha	15.0	15.9	16.9	17.6	20.6
FFB production	ton FFB per year	2,076,855	2,768,354	3,412,753	3,914,480	7,809,130
Total all (technical potential)	ton DW	431,805	575,577	709,556	813,871	1,623,620
Sustainable potential	ton DW	395,388	476,553	647,205	673,850	1,480,947
Mill residues exp potential	ton DM	176,489	198,491	422,499	306,112	1,186,207
Total all (technical potential)	HHV (GJ)	8,330,249	11,103,848	13,688,526	15,700,948	31,322,359
Sustainable potential	HHV (GJ)	7,677,281	9,328,347	12,570,572	13,190,373	28,764,236
Mill residues export potential	HHV (GJ)	3,312,075	3,795,109	8,082,542	5,854,848	22,858,924

Table 13. Total production area and mill residue production for export in the <u>Northern palm oil zone</u> of Colombia under a Business As Usual and a High Export scenario for 2020 and 2030.

Central palm oil zone.

The scenarios for the Central palm oil zone were similar to the Northern zone except for the growth rates. Based on the IBD study we assumed that less land will become available limiting the expansion rate to 1.5% per year for the BAU scenario and 2.5% for the HE scenario.

Overall the availability of mill residues will increase from 143,698 ton DM now, as assessed by Ramírez and Garcia-Nunez (2015) to between 250,884 tons DM under the BAU scenario and 769,711 tons DM under the HE scenario. Equivalent to between 4.8 and 14.8 PJ HHV per year (Table 14).

Central zone		Current	BAU	HE	BAU	HE
Year:		2015	2020	2020	2030	2030
Area increase per year				2.5%	1.5%	2.5%
Area	ha	112,732	142,493	151,072	182,403	246,080
Yield increase per year	%		1.0%	2.0%	1.0%	2.0%
Yield	ton FFB/ha	15.0	15.9	16.9	17.6	20.6
FFB production	ton FFB per year	1,690,980	2,268,888	2,551,968	3,208,229	5,067,223
Total all (technical potential)	ton DW	351,577	471,731	530,587	667,033	1,053,542
Sustainable potential	ton DW	321,925	390,573	483,963	552,274	960,963
Mill residues export potential	ton DM	143,698	162,679	315,934	250,884	769,711
Total all (technical potential)	HHV (GJ)	6,782,508	9,100,492	10,235,925	12,868,183	20,324,591
Sustainable potential	HHV (GJ)	6,250,859	7,645,326	9,399,949	10,810,566	18,664,665
Mill residues export potential	HHV (GJ)	2,696,699	3,110,396	6,043,916	4,798,517	14,832,800

Table 14. Total production area and mill residue production for export in the <u>Central palm oil zone</u> of Colombia under a Business As Usual and a High Export scenario for 2020 and 2030.

3.4 Palm residue pellet production cost assessment

In the previous section the availability of palm residues has been assessed. The results show that currently there is available up to 176,000 ton DM in the Northern zone and 143,000 ton DM in the Central zone. In each of the zones there are clusters of mills that together could provide sufficient biomass to supply a medium sized pellet plant of 50.000 tons DM per year. Over time much more biomass could be sources in the regions.

A first assessment of the production and delivery of EFB pellets is presented with similar assumptions as for sugar cane pellets. The estimated cost is €118 per tonne delivered or €6.5 per GJ.

The largest uncertainties lie in the cost of acquiring the pressed EFB and in the cost of cleaning the EFB. Though the price of EFB may now be considered negative the cost of contracting a secure supply over a longer period may require paying a significant price. Also the cost of cleaning the EFB to make a pellet that has a certain quality that will fetch a price that lies close to the price of wood pellets has not been assessed. The procedure will require repeated leaching steps with clean water followed by pressing of the EFB. The estimate given here of \notin 10 per tonne DM is very preliminary. The cost of pellet production is the most important factor.

The transport cost assumes that a bulk carries is used, which assumes large loads of up to 50.000 ton. Clearly a certain scale is needed to be able to fill such a ship regularly. The price of wood pellets can be as high as €150 in Europe. It is important to consider that wood quality cannot easily be achieved. So the pellets will have to be sold at a lower price and this price is uncertain (Table 15).

Table 15. Cost assessment of EFB pellet production and delivery from the **Northern palm** oil growing zone of Colombia to Rotterdam.

Item	value	Explanation
Moisture content of pressed EFB	50%	
Price of pressed EFB	€ 2.5	€/tonne FW

Price of EFB?	€5.0	€/tonne DM		
Cost of cleaning EFB	€ 10.0	€/tonne DM		
Cost of transport to plant	€4.0	€/tonne DM		
Energy content of pressed EFB	18.0	GJ/ton LHV		
Energy cost of drying	15%	%		
Cost of EFB including washing	€ 21.25	€/tonne DM		
Pelletizing:	€ 50	€/tonne DM pellet		
Loading 1.5 €/ton	€1.5	€/ton		
Transport to harbour	€10	€/ton		
Harbour cost (incl storage and loading)	€20	€/ton		
Transport to Santa Marta or Baranquilla:	€ 11.0	\$12.41 per track truck, similar to Cali to Buenaventura cost		
Transport by ship Buenaventura to Rotterdam	€ 15.0	Panamax bulk, current prices		
Cost per ton pellet delivered	€ 117.75	€/tonne pellet delivered at Rotterdam		
Cost per GJ	€ 6.54	GJ/ton LHV		

If a similar plant is placed in the Central zone similar cost apply albeit with higher transport costs. Based on INVIAS (2015) data, transport to a harbour in Colombia over a distance of 600 km could cost \$ USD 45- per tonne (= \notin 40 per tonne). The total cost would then be \notin 148 per tonne delivered or \notin 8.2 per GJ. This could still be acceptable if the quality is sufficient. Inland transport by ship over the Magdalena river may reduce the cost.

3.5 Cost supply curves for Palm oil residue pellets

The cost supply curves are given in Table 16 it is assumed that for the two regions the cost for buying the residues increases from ≤ 2.5 to ≤ 10 for each 1/3 of the available residue.

Region	Fraction used	Amount	Residue cost	Trucking cost per ton pellet	Cost of pellet delivered to Rotterdam FOB	
		Ton DM	Ton FW	per ton pellet	per ton	per GJ
Palm North	1/3	58,830	€ 2.5	€10	€ 117.75	€ 6.54
	2/3	58,830	€ 5.0	€10	€ 123.50	€ 6.86
	3/3	58,830	€ 10.0	€10	€ 135.00	€ 7.50
Palm Central	1/3	47,899	€ 2.5	€40	€ 147.75	€8.21
	2/3	47,899	€ 5.0	€40	€ 153.50	€ 8.53
	3/3	47,899	€ 10.0	€40	€ 165.00	€ 9.17

Table 16. Cost supply information

The different scenarios are summarized in Figure 16.



Figure 16. Cost supply curve for palm oil mill residue delivery from Colombia to Rotterdam (FOB)

4. SUGAR CANE

4.1 Sugar cane biomass potential

In the Cauca river valley, spanning some 200 km between the eastern and central Andes ranges of Colombia, virtually all sugar cane for large scale processing is grown in Colombia (Figure 17). Close to 50% of the area is covered with 220,000 ha of sugar cane which is processed at 12 factories into sugar and ethanol. Ethanol is used for blending with gasoline in transport. Sugar is used for local consumption and a large part is also exported (OECD, 2015). The Cauca valley, with an altitude of 1200 m above sea level, has excellent conditions for sugar cane growing, leading to sugar cane yields of 120 tons per ha per year and year round harvesting, making efficient use of factory facilities possible. Climate conditions can reduce yield considerably, as has happened in 2013 during flooding caused by "la Niña".





Based on Hasuani et al. (2005) we estimate the amount of residues produced at 140 kg DM of bagasse originating at the mill and 140 kg DM of trash per ton of sugar cane harvested in the field. Trash consists of the brown leaves, green leaves and the green tops which are all left in the field during (mechanical) harvest. In mechanical harvesting some of the trash is not removed during mechanical harvesting. These leaves are later processed and end up with the bagasse or they are removed and converted into compost together with some other residues at the mill (pers. comm. From Cenicana and mill personnel).

Current use of sugar cane residues:

Bagasse is currently used for co-generation at the mill producing energy for the sugar and ethanol production process and for electricity production using high pressure boilers. Cogeneration capacity of the mills is set to increase from 187 MW in 2013 to 360 in 2017, with a 300 days per year availability (Presentation by Johan Martinez, Asocana). In total 80% of bagasse is used for energy generation. The remainder, 20% of the bagasse, is sold for pulp production. The price is equivalent (on an energy basis) to

coal. Actually, bagasse is sold in exchange for coal (pers. comm. Johan Martinez, Asocana). Trash is generally left the field and arranged into rows manually as to not cover the new sprouts.

Alternative uses of sugar cane biomass

Alternative uses of sugar cane residues are being discussed and developed in Colombia currently. The national oil company of Colombia, Ecopetrol, has been developing second generation ethanol production using from bagasse and EFB (Palm empty fruit bunch) over the last years. A pilot plant with a one ton (input?) capacity per hour has been implemented.

Expansion of electricity production is also an option. Recently the new law, "no 1714", was passed that aims to support renewable electricity production. It is currently not clear if this will also lead to substantial more use of sugar cane residues for this purpose.

Sugar cane production development

The capacity to expand sugar cane production is virtually absent in the Cauca River Valley where some 50% of the area is covered with 225.000 ha of sugar cane, which is almost the total area that can be planted (USDA, 2014) There has actually not been any expansion in sugar cane production area in the Cauca River Valley in the past years. In other areas sugar cane is expanding in Colombia. Especially in the Llanos area, east of the Andes, where a large unused supply of land is considered available. Conversion of extensively used cattle pastures into cash crops like sugar cane and oil palm is taking place (Figure 18). The geographic conditions and lack of transport infrastructure make export unrealistic in the years to come. Therefore focus for biomass export should be on the Cauca River Valley which is separated by a lower range of the Andes and some 100 km from the port of Barranquilla.

Higher productivity per hectare is still possible and likely is happen, assuming that investments in better varieties and production systems are made. For now we can assume a 1% production increase per year.



Figure 18. Photos of mechanical harvesting of sugar cane and view of trash in the field after harvesting which is put on rows to permit regrowth of sprouts.

In Table 17 the production and availability of sugar cane trash is shown together the relevant assumptions. An important assumption is that trash availability is 50% of the trash currently left in the field, after mechanical harvesting. This value should depend on the cost of removal and the need for maintaining soil quality. A 50% availability is also assumed by other (Pippo et al., 2011)

The current (2015) availability of trash is therefore estimated at 840.000 tons DM per year. If there is some economic demand for the trash, and expansion of mechanical harvesting, we may assume that in 2020 field burning could be reduced to 40 % and to 25% in 2030. Higher productivity and better agronomic practise should make it possible to increase trash removal to 75% by 2030 and a 1% yield increase is assumed, trash availability would amount to 1.2 million tons DM 2020 and 2.2 million tons DM in 2030.

We can conclude that there is room for several medium scale pellet plants in the Cauca river valley. One average size mill could accommodate a pellet mill with a capacity of 50.000 to 100.000 tons per year.

		Current	BAU	HE	BAU	HE
Year:		2015	2020	2020	2030	2030
Area	ha	200000	200000	200000	200000	200000
yield increase per			0.5%	1.0%	0.5%	1.0%
year						
Sucar cane	Ton per hectare	120	123	126	129	146
production						
Bagasse per ton of cane		140	140	140	140	140
Trash per ton cane	kg DM	140	140	140	140	140
Machanical harvest	%	50%	50%	60%	60%	75%
Harvestable %		50%	50%	55%	60%	70%
Local use		0%	5%	10%	20%	10%
Technical potential		5,040,000	5,167,266	5,650,230	5,793,622	7,174,717
(trash + bagasse)						
Technical Trash potential	ton DM per year	1,680,000	1,722,422	2,118,836	2,172,608	3,074,879
Sustainable potential	ton DM per year	840,000	861,211	1,165,360	1,303,565	2,152,415
Export potential	ton DM per year	840,000	775,090	953,476	869,043	1,844,927
Technical potential (trash + bagasse)	GJ per year	90,384,000	92,666,309	101,139,118	103,705,841	128,119,954
Technical Trash potential	GJ per year	29,232,000	29,970,145	36,867,751	37,803,386	53,502,893
Sustainable potential	GJ per year	14,616,000	14,985,072	20,277,263	22,682,032	37,452,025
Export potential	GJ per year	14,616,000	13,486,565	16,590,488	15,121,354	32,101,736

Table 17. Jugal carle trash availability in the Cauca river valle	Table	e 17.	Sugar	cane	trash	availability	/ in	the	Cauca	river	valle
---	-------	-------	-------	------	-------	--------------	------	-----	-------	-------	-------

Quality of trash and bagasse

Table 18 gives an indication of the quality characteristics of sugar cane trash and bagasse. As expected the ash content is lower for bagasse at 4% compared to 7.7% for trash. The energy content is also lower at 17.4 for trash vs 18.2 MJ/ kg daf for bagasse. A more dramatic difference is the 10x lower Cl content of bagasse and the much higher ash melting temperature 1272 °C compared to 1025 °C for trash. Part of the ash content may be from contamination. This means that with good management the ash content could be lower.

		Trash	Bagasse
Ash	% dry	7.72	3.99
LHV	MJ/kg daf*	17.38	18.17
HHV	MJ/kg daf	18.69	19.37
С	wt% (daf)	47.49	49.03
н	wt% (daf)	6.09	5.98
Ν	wt% (daf)	0.54	0.46
S	wt% (daf)	0.09	0.07
0	wt% (daf)	45.81	44.47
Cl	mg/kg (daf)	3596	368.9
IDT	°C	1025	1272
SOT	°C	1200	1321

Table 18. Median quality characteristics of sugar cane trash and bagasse (from the ECN Phyllis database).

*daf = dry and ash free

Hasuani et al (2005) show similar data, albeit the ash content is lower than reported from the Phyllis database. They also show the difference in composition between the 3 trash components: dry leaves, green leaves and tops. The main quality characteristics for thermal conversion such as Cl, K, N, and total ash are all lower in bagasse than in trash. Within the trash, the brown leaves have much better characteristics than green leaves and especially the green tops. Hasuani also estimated the DM weight per hectare of the dry leaves, green leaves and tops (Table 19).

			Bagasse	
	Dry leaves	Green leaves	Торѕ	
		% of DM wei	ght	
Ton DM per hectare	11.8	1.6	0.3	
Moisture content	13.5	67.7	82.3	50.2
Ash	3.9	3.7	4.3	2.2
Fixed carbon	11.6	15.7	16.4	18.0
Volatile matter	84.5	80.6	79.3	79.9
С	46.2	45.7	43.9	44.6
Н	6.2	6.2	6.1	5.8
Ν	0.5	1.0	0.8	0.6
0	43.0	42.8	44.0	44.5
S	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
Cl	0.1	0.4	0.7	0.02
		g/kg DN	1	
P2O5	0.5	2.0	2.5	0.5
K2O	2.7	13.3	29.5	1.7
CaO	4.7	3.9	2.6	0.7
MgO	2.1	2.2	2.5	0.5
Fe2O3	0.9	0.5	0.2	2.3
AI2O3	3.5	1.4	0.5	2.3

Table 19. Trash and bagasse composition data from Hasuani et al 2005

Franco et al (2013) distinguished only green tops and dry leaves and determined the weight and composition of each as described in Table 20.

	Fresh Matter	Dry Matter	Moisture	Ν	К	Ρ	Са	Mg	S
	ton/ha		%	g/kg DM					
Tops	12.8	4.9	62	7.5	12.4	0.86	6.8	1.7	1.5
Dry Leaves	6.3	5.8	9.2	3.4	1.8	0.17	5.3	2.5	1.5

Table 20 (Composition	of green t	ons and dr	v leaves accordi	ing to Franc	o et al	(2013)
	Joinposition	U gieen t	ops and ur	y leaves accordi	ing to mane	U EL al	(2013).

Options for sugar cane trash or bagasse delivery for pellet or pyrolysis oil production

Currently trash has no uses apart from soil amendment. As a soil amendment it does have a value which is however hard to calculate. The nutrient content can be calculate and converted into a value. The biomass/carbon also has a value which is much harder to express. As discussed above, we assume that using 50% of the trash should be acceptable. We anticipate a system in which the green tops would be left in the field and the lower/brown leaves (more than 50% of the trash) would be transported to the mill for processing, as has also been proposed by Franco et al (2013). They estimate that the tops contain 80% of the N, P and K. Thereby decreasing fertilizer cost and increasing biomass quality for thermal conversion.

Two options for biomass mobilisation for pellet production should exist:

Option1: Trash harvest for pellet production

Option 1 is to remove 50% of trash per harvest cycle and use it for pellet production after a washing and drying and grinding procedure. It would be logical to harvest the old leaves and leave the green tops behind. This will ensure that most of the nutrients are left behind and a significant part of the biomass (50%). This will increase the thermal conversion quality of the trash and require less washing and perhaps lower losses during the washing steps. At this moment few data can be found to estimate the cost of trash harvesting and transport to the mill. Also the cost of trash washing has to estimate. Hassuani et al (2005) tested 3 trash recovery systems and estimated the total cost of delivery of trash to the mill between \$13,70 to \$31,12 per dry ton delivered. The recovery of trash varied between 50 and 66%. The cost included cost of negative soil effects.

Option 2: Bagasse for pellet and trash for boiler fuel replacing bagasse.

Option 2 is to make pellets from bagasse and use trash as a replacement for the bagasse in the high pressure boilers. Bagasse generally has 50% moisture and 80% is used for energy production in efficient high boilers for the mill and for electricity production for the grid. 20% is used for pulp production. The value of the bagasse when traded is equivalent to the cost of coal, which replaces bagasse. Making bagasse pellets for export is hardly an option because it will be replaced by coal. The purpose of pellet use in the EU is to replace coal and other fossil fuel use in order to reduce GHG emissions. If however, mills would agree to replace bagasse by trash for energy production this could be a sustainable option. The question would then be if the mills would be willing to replace bagasse by trash and at what cost that would be. It seems likely that the efficient high pressure boilers at the sugar mill would also require washed trash to increase quality. This cost would then have to be added to the price of bagasse. For now we assume a 30% premium over the cost of coal.

For the preliminary cost estimation we used typical values derived from Ehrig et al 2014 and own estimates. The energy content of coal is 25GJ/ton (LHV) we assume a price for local delivery of coal of \$42 per ton (Table 21).

Cost item	Value	Dimension
Delivered price of coal in Colombia:	€ 42	€ per ton
Energy content of coal	25	MJ/kg
Energy content of bagasse	8	MJ/kg as is
Moisture content of bagasse	50%	
Cost of bagasse (based on price of coal)	€ 13.44	€/ton wet
Cost of bagasse?	€ 26.88	€/ton DM
Premium if bagasse is replaced by trash:	20%	Premium increases from 20% to 40% to 60%.
Energy content of pellets	17.5	€/ton DM
Biomass cost incl. cleaning of trash	€ 32	€/ton DM pellet
Price of bagasse including premium	€ 32.26	€/tonne DM pellet
Pelletizing	€ 50.00	€/ton pellet
Loading	€ 1.50	€/ton
Transport to Buenaventura:	€ 10.00	\$12.41 per track truck
Harbour cost, incl. storage and unloading/loading	€ 20.00	€/ton
Transport by ship Buenaventura to Rotterdam	€ 20.00	€/ton Transport 5194 nautical miles including Panama Canal.
Cost per GJ	€ 133.76	€/tonne pellet delivered at Rotterdam
Cost per GJ	€ 7.64	€/GJ

Table 21. Cost estimate of bagasse pellet production at approximately 100.000 ton pellets per year in Colombia and transport by sea to Rotterdam, with trash replacing bagasse as a boiler fuel.

A first estimate shows that bagasse pellets could be delivered to Rotterdam at a cost of approximately €134 per ton equivalent to €7.6 per GJ (Table 22).

Fraction	Amount	Residue cost	Cost of pellet delivered to				
used			Rotterdam FC)B			
	Ton DM	Ton FW	per ton	per GJ			
1/3	280,000	€35	€134	€ 7.6			
2/3	280,000	€38	€139	€ 8.0			
3/3	280,000	€ 43	€ 144.5	€ 8.3			

Table 22. Summary of costs.

Cost supply curves for sugar cane bagasse pellets

The cost supply curves under current, BAU 2020/2030 and HE (high export) scenarios are shown in Figure 19.



Figure 19. Cost supply curves for sugar cane bagasse pellets.

Overall cost supply curves

Figure 20 summarises the cost supply curves of sugar cane and palm oil residues for current and for the 2020 and 2030 scenario's expressed in tons and GJ per year.



Figure 20a and b. Cost supply curves for current and 2020 and 2030 sugar cane residue pellet supply under Business as usual and high export (HE) scenarios for the Colombian Cauca Valley.

5. GHG balance of palm oil residue and sugar cane residue pellet delivery to Rotterdam

The greenhouse gases (GHG) emission of production and delivery of palm oil residue pellets has been estimated based on the following assumptions:

The pellet mill with a capacity of 50.000 to 100.000 tons per year is situated next to a palm oil extraction mill supplying 1/5 (DM) of the residues (EFB + fibre + shell). The remaining residue is supplied from nearby mills at a an average distance of 20 km (local transport), the remaining feedstock is supplied from the adjacent palm oil mill

For sugar cane trash the pellets mill is located adjacent to a sugar mill which supplies energy for pretreatment and pellet making using biomass residue. The trash is supplied from nearby mills at a an average distance of 20 km (local transport),

The palm mill residues are pretreated to upgrade the quality. Pretreatment involves size reduction followed by countercurrent washing with water. The water containing nutrients is then recycled for use in the plantation system. This is followed by the extraction with removing 70% of K, 50% of P and 20% of N. To calculate the loss of nutrients we use the contents as given in Elbersen et al (2013).

For sugar cane trash we assume that the dry yellow leaves which have a lower nutrient content, are used.

Table 23. Typical composition characteristics of palm oil Empty Fruit Bunches (EFB), mesocarp fibre, and shells.

		EFB	Fibre	Shells
Nutrient composition				
Ν	% dw	0.7	0.4	0.4
Ρ	% dw	0.08	0.07	0.01
К	% dw	2.37	1.18	0.15

Table 24. For GHG impact calculation we use th	ne following assumptions (provided by UU)
--	---

		0	- ()		
	CO2	CH4	N2O	CO2-eq.	
kg/t	3680.00	7.49	2.35	4566	
kg/t	1112.11	1.92	0.05	1169	
kg/t	588.71	1.72	0.01	629	
	kg/t kg/t kg/t	co2 kg/t 3680.00 kg/t 1112.11 kg/t 588.71	CO2 CH4 kg/t 3680.00 7.49 kg/t 1112.11 1.92 kg/t 588.71 1.72	CO2 CH4 N2O kg/t 3680.00 7.49 2.35 kg/t 1112.11 1.92 0.05 kg/t 588.71 1.72 0.01	CO2 CH4 N2O CO2-eq. kg/t 3680.00 7.49 2.35 4566 kg/t 1112.11 1.92 0.05 1169 kg/t 588.71 1.72 0.01 629

The energy (electricity and heat) for pre-treatment, drying and pelleting is supplied by the boiler of the adjacent pellet or sugar mill burning residues. We assume that there is a financial cost, but no relevant GHG emissions of drying and electricity production.

No specific GHG emissions for truck transport were identified we therefore used average numbers from different sources. The GHG emission of local transport of residues is assumed to be double that of long distance truck transport due to higher moisture content and lower efficiency due to smaller scale.

Table 25. GHG emissions per mode of transport used based on a short survey of data.

	CO2 _{kg} /t-km
Local truck	0.240
Long distance truck	0.120
Ship	0.015

The overall calculation of GHG emissions for residues of palm oil and sugar cane of the specific regions are presented in Table 26.

Table 26.	GHG emissions for	palm oil residue and	d sugar cane trash	delivered to Rotterdam FOB.
-----------	-------------------	----------------------	--------------------	-----------------------------

Region		Total feedstock emissions (CO2kg/ton)	Feedstock emissions delivered (CO2kg/GJ)
Northern palm oil region	EFB	177.86	9.92
	Fibre	164.06	8.54
	Shell	160.91	7.50
Central palm oil region	EFB	234.26	13.06
	Fibre	220.46	11.48
	Shell	217.31	10.13
Cauca Valley sugar cane region	Trash	184.18	10.52

6. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

This report presents an assessment of the sustainable potential of biomass and export potentials for Colombia to the EU. The main biomass potentials in Colombia consist of crop residues. The potential to use these residues at regional or national level is very limited due to the fact that many of the residues are generated in the field and/or have a high moisture content and/or a high mineral content and/or are dispersed and/or cannot be mobilised due to a lack of infrastructure to transport the biomass at a reasonable cost to a sea harbour.

Favourable conditions for export do exist, however the export potentials for residues from the Northern and Central palm oil zones and for the Cauca Valley sugar cane zone range from one million tons DM (pellets) currently to 4 million pellets in 2030 under high export conditions. The cost for export to the EU starts at €118 per ton pellet delivered.

The sustainable potential was calculated focusing in the main regions in Colombia that have the sugar cane and palm oil production, that are close enough to a harbour to make export feasible. In the case of Colombia, it shows a high theoretical potential but one of the main impediments is related to the logistics for transport. Nevertheless, as demonstrated in the cost analysis and the current uses, the production of pellets from sugar cane from the Valley of Cauca are a possible source of biomass export to the European Union (Figure 21).



Figure 21. Sugar cane and palm oil sustainable export potential

Finally, Table 27 presents a summary of the characteristics of how pellets should be considered to be a commodity that can expand the market.

Table 27. Summary of characteristics of the pellets of residues to be considered a commodity from Colombia.

A FULL COMMODITY	NOT A COMMODITY			
Easily transportable and storable $ ightarrow$	Not easily transportable or storable			
high energy content, low moisture,	No standards (quality, sustainability, safety,			
Iow volume	etc.)			
Quality standardized	No exchange markets			
Fungible (= "exchangeable")	No market price			
Standard transport, contracting,	No financial instruments (futures)			
insurance, safety, etc.	No sustainability standards			
Standard processing, etc.	Transaction costs higher			
Functioning market	Security of supply becomes very			
\succ Trade system \rightarrow Price formation	important/difficult			
 Financial instruments (futures, etc.) 	Long term relationships needed			
High "tradability"	One on One and Case by Case			
Sustainability	relations			
Standard certification systems exist	Vertical chain integration needed			

From this point of view there are still several considerations to be included in the production of the pellets to be exportable to the EU and enlarge the market. If these conditions can be overcome then a more sustainable market for export of biomass can be achieved.

7. REFERENCES

- Andrade, G., & Castro, L. G. (2012). Degradacion, perdida y transformación de la biodiversidad continental en Colombia, invitación a una interpretación socioecologica. Ambiente y Desarrollo XVI.
- ASOCAÑA. (2012). Energia: La nueva agenda del sector azucarero. Obtenido de http://www.asocana.org/StaticContentFull.aspx?SCid=167
- BID-MME, 2012. Evaluacion del ciclo de vida de la cadena de produccion de biocombustibles en Colombia. Resumen Ejecutivo. Available at: www.fedebiocombustibles.com (accessed 20.03.2012).
- BNEF 2014. Bloomberg New Energy Finance Policy Library http://idbdocs.iadb.org/wsdocs/getDocument.aspx?DOCNUM=38168432. Accessed May 2014.
- Cardona CA, Quintero JA and Paz IC. 2010. Production of bioethanol from sugarcane bagasse: Status and perspectives. *Bioresource Technology* **101** (2010) 4754–4766.
- Castiblanco C, Etter A, T. Mitchell Aide. 2013. Oil palm plantations in Colombia: a model of future expansion, environmental science & policy 27 (2013) 172-183

Cenipalma. 2014. http://www.cenipalma.org/ Accessed June 2014

CENICAÑA. J.I. VICTORIA, A. DURAN, C. POSADA, J. GOMEZ, J.M. PINZON. (2012). Evaluación de variedades de caña de azucar para la cosecha mecanizada en verde. Obtenido de http://www.cenicana.org/pdf/serie_tecnica/st_35/st_35_p17-81.pdf

Colombia Environmental Ministry. 2014.

https://www.minambiente.gov.co/index.php/component/content/article?id=426:plantilla-bosquesbiodiversidad-y-servicios-ecosistematicos-21 Accessed June 2014

Colombia Miniagricultura. 2014. Ministry of Agriculture. <u>https://www.minagricultura.gov.co/paginas/inicio.aspx</u> Accessed June 2014

- CVC. Corporacion Autonoma Regional del Valle del Cauca. 2009. Cited in: Departamento del Valle del Cauca Gobernación departamento administrativo de planeación. (2012). Obteined from http://www.valledelcauca.gov.co/planeacion/descargar.php?idFile=3648
- Chávez, C. Asociación de Cultivadores de Caña de Azúcar de Colombia. ASOCAÑA. Personal Interview October 22, 2015.
- Daza C, et al. 2013. Torrefied Bamboo for the Import of Sustainable Biomass from Colombia. ECN. ECN-E--13-074. Netherlands.
- Diaz-Chavez R, Daza-Montano C, Camargo-García JC, Londono X, Rosillo-Calle F and Zwart, R.W.R. 2013. Bamboo torrefaction in Colombia for energy uses. A Sustainability Assessment. EU Biomass Conference Proceedings. Copenhagen, 2013.
- DNP. 2006. Plan Nacional de Desarrollo 2006-2010 Estado Comunitario: desarrollo para todos, Bogota, Colombia: Departamento Nacional de Planeación, 2006, 115; available from <u>http://www.dnp.gov.co/paginas_detalle.aspx?idp=906</u> Accessed May 2014
- Ehrig, R., F. Behrendt, M. Wörgetter, & C. Strasser. 2014. APPLIED SCIENCES AND TECHNOLOGY Economics and Price Risks in International Pellet Supply Chains. (Ed. A. Andreas Öchsner, Southport Queensland). Springer Cham Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London.

- Elbersen, Wolter, Koen Meesters and Rob Bakker. 2013. Valorization of palm oil (mill) residues. Identifying and solving the challenges. A report for the Netherlands Programmes Sustainable Biomass of NL Agency.
- Elhawary, S. 2007. Between war and peace: Land and humanitarian action in Colombia. HPG Working
Paper.London:OverseasDevelopmentInstitute.http://www.odi.org.uk/resources/download/1912.pdf
- Escalante H, Orduz J, Zapata H, Cardona M and Duarte M. ny. Atlas del Potential Energético de la Biomasa Residual en Colombia. Ministerio de Energia. Bogota.
- FAO. (2010). BIOENERGÍA PARA EL DESARROLLO SOSTENIBLE Políticas Publicas sobre Biocombustibles y su relación con la Seguridad Alimentaria en Colombia.

FAOstat. 2014. FAO statistics. http://faostat3.fao.org/home/E

- FEDEPALMA, 2011. La agroindustria de la palma de aceite en Colombia y en el mundo, Anuario Estadistico 2011. Federacio n Nacional de Cultivadores de Palma de Aceite, Bogota .
- FEDEPALMA. 2015. Why is the Palm of Oil an engine of the Colombian field?. Javegraf. Bogotá D.C.
- Franco H.C.J., Maria Teresa Borges Pimenta, João Luís Nunes Carvalho, Paulo Sérgio Graziano Magalhães, Carlos Eduardo Vaz Rossell, Oscar Antonio Braunbeck, André Cesar Vitti, Oriel Tiago Kölln, João Rossi Neto. 2013. Assessment of sugarcane trash for agronomic and energy purposes in Brazil. Sci. Agric. v.70, n.5, p.305-312, September/October 2013.
- Gadde B, Menke C, Wassmann R. 2009. Rice straw as a renewable energy source in India, Thailand, and the Philippines: overall potential and limitations for energy contribution and greenhouse gas mitigation. Biomass Bioenergy 2009; 33(11):1532e46
- García JA, Cárdenas M, and Yáñez E. 2010. Power Generation and Use of Biomass at Palm Oil Mills in Colombia, 2010.
- Grueso L, Mow JM, Robinson Davis D and Viáfara CA. 2007. Plan Integral de Largo Plazo para la Población Negra /Afrocolombiana, Palenquera Y Raizal: Propuestas para el Capítulo de Fortalecimiento de los Grupos Étnicos y de las Relaciones Interculturales del Plan Nacional de Desarrollo 2006- 2010, Bogota, Colombia: Departamento Nacional de Planeación, January 15, 2007, 12-13; available from http://www.dnp.gov.co/paginas_detalle.aspx?idp=885.¹
- Grusczynski, Diana Michelle, and Felipe Jaramillo. 2002. Integrating land issues into the broader development agenda, case study: Colombia. Paper prepared for presentation in the Regional Workshop on Land, organized by the World Bank, Pachuca, Mexico May 19–22, 2002. Mimeo. http://www.landnetamericas.org/docs/Integrating%20Land%20Issues %20Colombia.pdf
- GTZ. 2002. Producing electricity from renewable energy source: energy sector Iframework in 15 countries in Asia, Africa and Latin America; 2002.
- Husain A, Zainal ZA, Abdullah MZ. Analysis of biomass-residue- based cogeneration system in palm oil mills. Biomass and Bioenergy 2003; 24:117–24.
- Hassuani, Suleiman José. 2005. Biomass power generation: sugar cane bagasse and trash / Suleiman José Hassuani, Manoel Regis Lima Verde Leal, Isaías de Carvalho Macedo - Piracicaba: PNUD-CTC , 2005. (Série Caminhos para Sustentabilidade). ISBN 85-99371-01-0
- IDEAM, 2004. Informe anual sobre el estado del medio ambiente y los recursos naturales renovables en Colombia. Instituto de Hidrología, Meteorología y Estudios Ambientales, Bogota.
- IFPRI. 2015. Food Security Portal. Colombia. <u>http://www.foodsecurityportal.org/colombia/resources</u> Accessed May 2015

ILO, Equality at work: Tackling the challenges. Global Report under the follow-up of the ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work, Geneva: International Labour Office, 2007, 21; available from

http://www.ilo.org/dyn/declaris/DECLARATIONWEB.DOWNLOAD_BLOB?Var_DocumentID=6779.

- Infante, A. and Tobó NS. 2010. Bioenergía para el desarrollo sostenible. Políticas puí blicas sobre biocombustibles y su relació n con la seguridad alimentaria en Colombia. Ministerio de Asuntos Exteriores y de Cooperación. FAO, Bogotaí.
- INVIAS (Instituto Nacional de Vias) Citation in: PROCOLOMBIA (2015): Exportaciones Turismo Inversion Marca Pais. Infraestrucutra Logistica y Transporte de carga en Colombia.
- IOM. 2006., Dimensiones de la trata de personas en Colombia, International Organization for Migration. Bogota: February 2006. available from <u>http://www.oit.org.pe/ipec/documentos/oim_trata_col.pdf</u>. Accessed May 2014.
- ITUC. 2009. Annual Survey of Violations of Trade Union Rights: Colombia. International Trade Union Confederation. Available at http://survey09.ituccsi.org/survey.php?IDContinent=2&IDCountry=COL&Lang=EN (Accessed 11 February 2010).
- J.S.Torres, F. A. (2006). Manejo del cultivo en condiciones de caña verde . Cali, Cenicaña.
- LAR. 2014. Land and rights in troubled water. Project LAR. <u>http://landsandrights.blog.com/cauca-valley/</u>. Accessed April 2014.
- Mai-Moulin T, Visser L, Junginger M, Iriarte L, Diaz-Chavez R, Fritche U., Methodologies to assess sustainable biomass potentials from international sourcing countries, 2015.
- McAlpine, C., Etter, A., Fearnside, P., Seabrook, L. and Laurance, W. 2009. Increasing world consumption of beef as a driver of regional and global change: a call for policy action based on evidence from Queensland (Australia), Colombia and Brazil. Global Environmental Change 19, 21–33.
- Ministerio De Minas Y Energia Unidad De Planeacion Minero Energetica Upme. (2015). Integracion De Las Energias Renovables No Convencionales En Colombia. Obtenido de <u>http://www.upme.gov.co/Estudios/2015/Integracion_Energias_Renovables/INTEGRACION_ENERGI</u> <u>AS_RENOVANLES_WEB.pdf</u>
- Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development MARD. 2014. Biomass Potential Atlas. UPME. Colombia.
- Muñoz-Arboleda, F. and Quintero-Duran, R. (2009). Trash Management After Green Cane Harvesting And Its Effect On Productivity And Soil Respiration. Proc. Int. Soc. Sugar Cane Technol., Vol. 27, 2009. P.
- NL Agency, Ministry of foreign affairs, Biomass opportunities in Colombia, June 2013
- OECD (2015), OECD Review of Agricultural Policies: Colombia 2015, OECD Publishing. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264227644-en
- Perez, M., 2011. Dinamica del sector palmero en Colombia y la region del Sur de Bolivar, analisis de sus conflictos ambientales. Available at: http:// seminarioambienteycultura.bligoo.com.co/ Perez_Mario_2010_b (accessed 28.06.2012).
- Pippo, W.A., C.A. Luengo, L. Alonsoamador Morales Alberteris, P. Garzone, G. Cornacchia. Energy Recovery from Sugarcane-Trash in the Light of 2nd Generation Biofuels. Part 1: Current Situation and Environmental Aspects. Waste Biomass Valor (2011) 2:1–16.
- PROCAÑA Asociación Colombiana de Productores y Proveedores de Caña de Azúcar. (2015). PROCAÑA. Obtenido de Historia de la caña de azúcar: http://www.procana.org/new/estadisticas/historia-de-laca%C3%B1a-de-azucar.html
- PNUD, Programa de las Naciones Unidas para el Desarrollo. 2011. Colombia rural. Razones para la esperanza. Informe Nacional de Desarrollo Humano. Bogotá: INDH PNUD, Septiembre.

- Quintero JA, Montoya MI, Sanchez OJ, Giraldo OH, and Cardona CA. 2008. Fuel ethanol production from sugarcane and corn: Comparative analysis for a Colombian case. *Energy.* **Volume** 33, Issue 3, March 2008, Pages 385–399.
- Ramírez, N., Arévalo, A. y Garcia-Nunez, J. A. (2015). Inventario de la biomasa disponible en plantas de beneficio para su aprovechamiento y caracterización fisicoquímica de la tusa en Colombia. Palmas, 36(4), 41-54
- San Carlos Ingenio. 2014. Proceso de Producción. Available at: http://www.sancarlos.com.ec/portal/html/themes/ingenio/pdf/proceso_produccion.pdf
- Saenger, M., Hartge, E.-U., Werther, J., Ogada, T., & Siagi, Z. 2001. Combustion of coffee husks. Renewable Energy, 23, 103–121.
- Seeboldt, S., Salinas, Y., 2010. Responsabilidad y sostenibilidad de la industria de la palma. Son factibles los principios y criterios de la RSPO en Colombia. Available at: www.setianworks.net/indepazHome/index.php?.id (accessed 28.07.2012).
- Taylor, P. 2006. Country Case Study: Forest Tenure and Poverty in Colombia. http://www.rightsandresources.org/documents/files/doc_939.pdf
- Tecnicaña, A. -F. (24 de 9 de 2015). *Centro de investigación de la Caña de Azucar en Colombia*. Obtenido de Fechas Historicas de la Agroindustria de la caña en Colombia: http://www.cenicana.org/quienes_somos/agroindustria/historia.php
- UN. 2014. Bagasse production Colombia.
- https://www.quandl.com/data/UNDATA/EN_BS_PROD_COL-Bagasse-Production-Colombia. Accessed June 2014.
- UNHCR. 2007. Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights. para 109. New York.
- USAID. ny. Colombia. Property Rights And Resource Governance Profile 21. Url: <u>http://usaidlandtenure.net/sites/default/files/country-profiles/full-</u> <u>reports/USAID Land Tenure Colombia Profile.pdf</u> Accessed June 2014.
- U.S. Embassy- Bogota, reporting, March 5, 2007.
- U.S. Department of State, "Country Reports- 2006: Colombia," Section 5. See also U.S. Embassy- Bogota, reporting, March 5, 2007. See also Nathalie Tran, An Assessment on the Exploitation of Chinese Migrants in the Western Hemisphere, Organization for American States, 2006.
- U.S. Department of State, Country Reports on Human Rights Practices 2005 Colombia, Section 6b, Washington, D.C., March 8, 2006; available from http://www.state.gov/g/drl/rls/hrrpt/2005/61721.htm.
- USDA. 2013. GAIN report. Colombia sugar annual. Colombian Sugar Production Shows Signs of Recovery from the Excessive Rains of "La Niña".
- USDA. 2013. GAIN report. Colombia sugar annual. Sugar Production Recovers to Normal Level.
- Viáfara López CA. 2007. Plan Integral de Largo Plazo para la Población Negra, Afrocolombiana, Palenquera y Raizal: Consultaría Desarrollo Económico - Género, (Bogota, Colombia: Departamento Nacional de Planeación, June 7, 2007), 36; available from http://www.dnp.gov.co/paginas_detalle.aspx?idp=885.